The University of New South Wales



School of Electrical Engineering and Telecommunications

# Energy-Efficient Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transmission for IoT Devices

by

Suhyeon Hwang

Thesis submitted as a requirement for the degree

Bachelor of Engineering (Electrical Engineering)

Date: Dec. 16, 2018

### Abstract

The rapid advancement of technology in the field of wireless communication devices has unlocked the world of Internet of Things which dramatically increased the power consumption worldwide. Simultaneous Wireless information and Power Transfer (SWIPT) is a up-andcoming solution to the increase in demand of transmission power, by enabling sustainability of the wireless communication devices.

However, the SWIPT technology requires further improvement in balancing between the quality of service and saving the energy such that the full potential of SWIPT can be explored. To ensure optimum wireless transmission with high quality of service and sustainability, this paper addresses the optimization of energy efficiency for SWIPT multiuser multi-input single-output broadcast channel with separated receiver design.

## Acknowledgement

Foremost, I wish to show my genuine gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Derrick Wing Kwan Ng for the endless support of my study and research work, for his limitless knowledge and encouragement. His supervision allowed me to develop understanding in the field of wireless power and information transmission system and helped me in all duration of the research. I am extremely lucky to have met such knowledgeable and supportive supervisor, and no words can express my gratitude.

My sincere thanks also goes to Prof. Wei Zhang and his associates for giving their full attention and valuable feedback during the presentations and reviewing my research work.

I would like to take this opportunity to express gratitude to all of the Department faculty members for their help and support.

# Contents

1	Introduction	5
<b>2</b>	Literature Review	8
	2.1 Types of Receivers	8
	2.2 MIMO and Beamforming	10
3	System Model	11
	3.1 Signal Model	11
	3.2 Resource Allocation Algorithm Design	13
	3.3 Preliminary Simulation	14
4	Problem Formulation	16
	4.1 Systematic Design	18
<b>5</b>	Optimal Solution	19
	5.1 Optimal Solution	19
	5.2 Dinkelbach Method	21
6	Simulation Results	23
	6.1 Energy Efficiency and Total Transmission Power	24
	6.2 Energy efficiency and Number of Iterations	26
	6.3 Energy Efficiency and Number of Eavesdroppers	28
7	Future Works	30
	7.1 Future Research	30

# List of Figures

2.1	Power splitting technique with one transmitter and one receiver. $[19]$	
2.2	Separated receiver technique with the base station, one receiver for receiving	
	information and one for harvesting energy. [19]	9
3.1	A downlink SWIPT-based multiuser MISO system with separated receiver	
	technique	11
3.2	Transmission rate versus Bandwidth according to Shannon's capacity. $\  \   . \   .$	13
3.3	Preliminary simulation for a behaviour of Energy Efficiency against Total	
	Transmission Power.	14
4.1	Graph of the Objective Function, Constraint 1 and Constraint 2. The coloured	
	regions are visual representation of possible values which satisfies the equation.	17
5.1	Flow Chart representation of the optimization algorithm	19
6.1	Simulation result of Energy efficiency versus Total Transmission Power	24
6.2	Simulation result of Energy efficiency versus Number of Iterations	26
6.3	Simulation result of Energy efficiency and Number of Eavesdroppers	28
7.1	A comparison between linear and non-linear energy harvesting model	30

# Chapter 1

### Introduction

The rapid advancement of technology in the area of wireless communication devices has unlocked the world of the Internet of Things (IoTs) where the number of wireless communication devices easily surpass the number of human population worldwide [18], [28]. While mobile phones, laptops and tablets contribute to this enormous network of Internet of Things more noticeably, the less prominent everyday objects such as the smart watches, wall mounted temperature sensors and even the security tag from clothing stores consist of wireless communication chips which unconsciously fill up the modern society with a surprisingly vast number.

As the standard of living elevates with digitisation of everyday objects, the demand for wireless communication devices grows exponentially and in turn the cost invested in maintenance of these devices also snowball. A significant drawback in these mass-produced wireless communication sensors is the limited energy storage capacity. Frequent replacement of battery in large volume is not only time consuming, costly and produce waste, but it can even be impossible in cases of medically inserted devices such as advanced prosthetics. Also, the load on the conventional power generators to meet the increased power consumption is another challenge to be tackled.

A possible resolution is to integrate an energy harvesting technology to the wireless communication devices such that the devices do not require battery replacements and can be self-sustained. [29] This will mitigate the cost and labour invested maintenance of the networks, while reducing the load on the conventional power generators and finite resources. Different researches [1] considered the traditional renewable energy resources such as solar and wind. However, most researches were concluded that the conventional natural energy harvesting is not ideal for serving wireless communication purposes due to their high dependence on weather and lack of mobility which cannot promise high quality of service.

So, in the more recent years, wireless power transfer methods which utilizes the electromagnetic waves in the surrounding environment. Wireless power transfer can be achieved using different technologies. For occasions where the energy harvesting devices are mobile, radio frequency based wireless power transfer is particularly preferred over other methods such as the inductive coupling or magnetic resonant coupling technologies, as they exploit the far-field properties of electromagnetic waves. [2] By ensuring transmission to mobile energy harvesting devices, information signal can be sent in the process of wireless energy transmission, unlocking the potential of simultaneous wireless information and power transfer. [3]

Although Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer (SWIPT) [30]-[32] is a relatively new concept, it has drawn much attention amongst researchers. Most existing researches focus on maximising the data rate of the harvested energy to ensure high quality of service in transmission [4]-[7]. However, sole maximisation of the throughput [8] requires enormous network power consumption, leading to small harvested energy to total energy consumption ratio. The high network power consumption inhibits the sustainability of the system, ultimately defeating the effort to create self-sustainable, economical system. On the contrary, only focusing on maximisation of harvested energy will downgrade the valuable throughput, and hence the quality of service [25].

Taking into account the two conflicting objectives of the existing researches, a promising approach to balance the trade-off is to evaluate the energy efficiency of the system [26]. Optimisation of energy efficiency has been studied in many research works over conventional information transmission systems, but only recently gained attention over SWIPT. There are some existing researches on the energy efficiency of SWIPT, such as the paper on multicarrier OFDMA systems [9], or papers on Multi Input Single Output systems based on fix precoder [10], [11]. Different from these existing works, this paper will address multiuser MISO SWIPT, using the separated receiver technique.

The ultimate objective of this paper is to design a computational efficient beamformer which

maximises the energy efficiency of SWIPT systems, while guaranteeing the quality of service. This paper consists of four different chapters – Chapter 1 and 2 consist of the introduction and literature review. The system model and problem formulation will be outlined in Chapter 3 and 4 respectively. The proposed optimal resource allocation and the strategies involved in solution are discussed in chapter 5, and the simulation results of the designed system are elaborated in chapter 6. Finally, in Chapter 6, possible direction of future research works are identified.

## Chapter 2

### Literature Review

In this section, different design factors that can be considered in system model to increase the energy efficiency will be elaborated.

#### 2.1 Types of Receivers

The ideal idea of SWIPT would be to use the same signal to yield both information data and energy without dedicating some portions of the signal for single purpose only. Nevertheless, the radio frequency wireless energy transfer in the process of energy harvesting damages the information data, hence impractical in the real-world application. Therefore, in practice, the signal must be split in the domain of power, time, space, etc., to dedicate one section as information data signal and the other as energy signal. Power splitting and separated receiver techniques are the two common techniques and will be reviewed in the following section.

#### **Power Splitting**



Figure 2.1: Power splitting technique with one transmitter and one receiver.[19]

In power splitting technique, a receiver is designed to split the received signal into two ways of different power levels. One of these split signals is rectified at the energy harvesting circuit and the other portion of split signal is dedicated for decoding information data.

Separated receiver / Time switching receiver



Figure 2.2: Separated receiver technique with the base station, one receiver for receiving information and one for harvesting energy. [19]

With separated receiver technique, the receivers are dedicated as either an information receiver or energy harvesting receiver and does not require a circuitry that splits the power for different purposes. Time switching technique has the same strategy, except one receiver can switch between an information receiver and an energy harvester in time.

There are some advantages and disadvantages in both these techniques – the power splitting method can achieve instantaneous SWIPT, therefore it is easier to manage applications with delay constraints and has better performance. But because power splitting requires high receiver complexity, it is more expensive and additional noise can be introduced in the process of power splitting.

So, although power splitting technique may be better in terms of performance, time switching is often preferred because they are much cheaper and suitable for mass production, and the relatively simple circuitry involved reduces the chance of mechanical failure and unlike the power splitting cuircuit, it will introduce as much noise. Drawback or limitations in the performance can be mitigated at employing other techniques at the base station. Therefore, this paper will employ the separated receiver technique, with addition of beamforming technique.

#### 2.2 MIMO and Beamforming

The Multiple Input Multiple Output (MIMO) [41] is an antenna technology employed to increase the degrees of freedom in a wireless transmission. By utilising the degrees of freedom obtained from MIMO, the RF energy can be steered towards desired direction using beamforming [39], [40]. For example, with a base station or a transmitter generating and directing RF signals towards a specific device, a constructive combination of energy or destructive combination of energy can be obtained.

Taking advantage of the properties of constructive and deconstructive waves, beamforming can be integrated into SWIPT as a feasible solution to provide both high data throughput and sustainability of the system.

# Chapter 3

# System Model

#### 3.1 Signal Model

Taking advantage of the design factors evaluated in the literature review, the system model constructed is a multi user Multiple Input Single Output (MISO) SWIPT, using the separated receiver technique.



Figure 3.1: A downlink SWIPT-based multiuser MISO system with separated receiver technique.

The system consists of one transmitter (or the base station) with N number of transmit antennas, one information receiver and J number of energy harvesting receivers each with a single receiving antenna. We assume that the number of antenna at the transmitter is greater than the sum of the receiving antennas to increase reliability by utilising the directional gain and interference cancellation of beamforming.

Figure 3.1 represents the information data and energy transmission from a transmitter and the receivers, where the active receiver acts as the information decoding receiver. Perfect channel state information and linear harvested energy is assumed for the system model at this stage.

$$y_{I_R} = \boldsymbol{h}^H \boldsymbol{\omega} x + n \tag{3.1}$$

$$y_{j_{E_R}} = \boldsymbol{g}_j^H \boldsymbol{\omega} x + z_j \tag{3.2}$$

The signal received at the information receiver (3.1) and signal received at  $j^{t^h}$  energy receiver (3.2) are derived respectively as above, where  $x \in C$  denotes the data symbol and  $\omega \in C$  is the information beamforming vector. Here we assume that the expected value of received signal,  $\varepsilon |x|^2$  equals to 1 because it is normalized.  $h^H$  is the channel quality vector between the transmitter and the information receiver, and  $g_j^H$  is the channel quality between the transmitter and the  $j^{t^h}$  energy receiver.  $n CN(\mu, \delta^2)$  and  $z_j$  represent the additive white Gaussian noises at the receivers, where  $\delta^2$  is the noise power on the receiving end.

#### 3.2 Resource Allocation Algorithm Design

With the equation of the received information signal, the maximum rate  $R_s$  at which the information can be transmitted through a signal can be derived using the formula of Shannon's capacity.

$$R_s = \log_2\left(1 + \frac{|\boldsymbol{h}^{\boldsymbol{H}}\boldsymbol{\omega}|^2}{\delta^2}\right),\tag{3.3}$$

where  $\frac{|\mathbf{h}^H \boldsymbol{\omega}|^2}{\delta^2}$  is basically the signal to noise ratio, (SNR).



Figure 3.2: Transmission rate versus Bandwidth according to Shannon's capacity.

Figure 3.2 is a graph which shows the rate of transmission versus the signal to noise ratio. As can be seen on the graph, the maximum transmission rate reaches a limit where the increase in signal to noise ratio will no longer have much effect on the transmission rate due to the maximum error free data rate a channel can support.

#### 3.3 Preliminary Simulation

The total power at the transmitter equals to the transmission power plus the circuit power, and the energy efficiency equation equals to the maximum error free data rate a channel can support, divided by the power consumption.

$$P_{\text{input}} = \text{Transmission power} + \text{Circuit power} = ||\boldsymbol{\omega}||^2 + P_c$$
 (3.4)

Energy Efficiency = 
$$\frac{P_{\text{output}}}{P_{\text{input}}} = \frac{\log_2\left(1 + \frac{|\mathbf{h}^H \boldsymbol{\omega}|^2}{\delta^2}\right)}{||\boldsymbol{\omega}||^2 + P_c}$$
 (3.5)

Assuming the channel quality vector, power consumption and noise power are a fixed value, the relationship between the energy efficiency and transmission power was simulated using MATLAB.



Figure 3.3: Preliminary simulation for a behaviour of Energy Efficiency against Total Transmission Power.

As can be seen from Fig 3.3, the energy efficiency of a SWIPT system initially increases very quickly with the increase of transmission power, then start to decrease fairly quickly after reaching a maximum point. This is because standalone application of spectral efficient communication technology to increase the signal to noise ratio cannot overcome the constraint imposed by Shannon's capacity as well as the non-negligible circuit power consumption. Therefore, the non-trivial trade-off between energy efficiency and transmission power is a major factor which contributes to the establishment of practical and feasible SWIPT system.

# Chapter 4

### **Problem Formulation**

To achieve the ultimate objective, the energy efficiency equation obtained from previous section is set as the objective function. It is assumed that the channel quality and noise power is given, hence the beamforming vector acts as the control variable for maximum energy efficiency of transmitted signal.

$$\max_{\omega} \frac{\log_2\left(1 + \frac{|\mathbf{h}^H \boldsymbol{\omega}|^2}{\delta^2}\right)}{||\boldsymbol{\omega}||^2 + P_c} \tag{4.1}$$

Although energy efficiency of the energy harvester does not play direct role in the above objective function, there are two constraints that need to be considered in this system where the energy harvester is relevant.

$$C1: ||\boldsymbol{\omega}||^2 \le P_{\max} \tag{4.2}$$

$$C2: \zeta |\boldsymbol{g}_{\boldsymbol{j}}^{\boldsymbol{H}}\boldsymbol{\omega}|^2 \ge P_{\min_{\boldsymbol{j}}}$$

$$(4.3)$$

The first constraint that needs to be considered is that the transmission power  $||\boldsymbol{\omega}||^2$  cannot be larger than the maximum power the transmitter can transmit – limiting the maximum beamforming factor possible. The second constraint is that the total energy harvested at a receiver must be higher than the minimum power required at the  $j^{t^h}$  receiver. This is so that the harvested energy is high enough to power the receiver and allow it to sustain itself.



Figure 4.1: Graph of the Objective Function, Constraint 1 and Constraint 2. The coloured regions are visual representation of possible values which satisfies the equation.

Figure 4.1 is a graphical representation of the possible regions in the objective function and the constraints, respectively. It can be seen that the first constraint has finite number of points, as the possible points are bounded within are region. Therefore, it is clear that the first constraint is a convex function, and solving the equation is straight forward. On the other hand, both the objective function and the constraint are unbounded as can be seen in the figure. Hence there are infinite number of points that can be selected from these unbounded regions. i.e. they are non-convex functions.

The challenge lies in optimisation of these non-convex functions, as the proof of global optimality is much more difficult than that of a convex function. Some main techniques that can be used in optimization of non-convex functions are Dinkelbach method, convex optimization and semi-definite programming, which will be examined in the commencing research work of thesis.

#### 4.1 Systematic Design

The objective of the system is to maximize the energy efficiency of the overall SWIPT system while ensuring reliable quality of service. The energy efficiency equation derived in the system model section, can be re-written as:

$$\frac{\log_2\left(1 + \frac{|\boldsymbol{h}^H\boldsymbol{\omega}|^2}{\delta^2}\right)}{||\boldsymbol{\omega}||^2 + P_c} \implies \sum \frac{\log_2\left(1 + \frac{\tau}{\delta^2}\right)}{\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}) + P_c}$$
(4.4)

Where  $\boldsymbol{W} = \boldsymbol{\omega} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{H}$ .

Now the objective function is to maximize the EE with respect to W Considering the constraints and limitations established in the system model section, the resource allocation is developed as following:

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{W},\,\boldsymbol{\omega},\,\tau} \quad \frac{\log_2\left(1+\frac{\tau}{\delta^2}\right)}{\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W})+P_c} \tag{4.5}$$

s.t 
$$C1$$
 :  $Tr(\boldsymbol{W}) \le P_{\max}$ , (4.6)

$$C2 : \zeta \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{g}_{j}\boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}) \geq P_{\min_{j}}, \qquad (4.7)$$

$$C3 : \tau \le \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{h}\boldsymbol{h}^{\boldsymbol{H}}), \tag{4.8}$$

$$C4 : \boldsymbol{W} = \boldsymbol{\omega}\boldsymbol{\omega}^{H} \quad (Rank(\boldsymbol{W}) \le 1).$$
(4.9)

The constraint C4 is imposed to guarantee that  $\boldsymbol{W_k} = \boldsymbol{w_k} \boldsymbol{w_k}^H$  holds after optimization.

# Chapter 5

# **Optimal Solution**



Figure 5.1: Flow Chart representation of the optimization algorithm.

#### 5.1 Optimal Solution

As explained in the problem formulation section, the objective function (5.2) and the constraints C2, C3 and C4 are non-convex functions. The challenge in solving a non-convex problem is that there may be multiple local minimums or maximums, and the complexity in finding the global minimum or maximum is extremely high [35].

Since the formulated objective function is a nonlinear fractional programming problem with a concave numerator and a convex denominator where the set of control variables are convex, and the Dinkelbach method is adopted to effectively find the optimal solution.

By re-writing the fractional form into the algorithm given by Dinkelbach method

 $(F(q_k) = max\{N(x) - q_kD(x) | x \in S\})$  [13], the objective function can be written in the form:

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{W}, \tau \in \boldsymbol{H}^T} \quad \frac{\log_2 \left(1 + \frac{\tau}{\delta^2}\right)}{\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}) + P_c} \tag{5.1}$$

$$< = > \max_{\boldsymbol{W}, \tau \in \boldsymbol{H}^{T}} \log_2 \left( 1 + \frac{\tau}{\delta^2} \right) - q^* \left( \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}) + P_c \right)$$
(5.2)

given the equation, a sequence of linear program can be generated, then their solutions are converged to the solution of the original fractional form. (Further elaborated in Section 5.2 Dinkelbach Method)

Taking advantage of the equation obtained using the Dinkelbach algorithm, the Semi-Definite Programming relaxation [24] is applied to establish more efficient design:

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{W}, \tau \in \boldsymbol{H}^{T}} -\log_{2}\left(1 + \frac{\tau}{\delta^{2}}\right) + q\left(\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}) + P_{c}\right)$$
(5.3)

$$s.t \quad C1 : \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}) - P_{\max} \le 0 \tag{5.4}$$

$$C2 : \zeta \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{g}_{\boldsymbol{j}} \boldsymbol{g}_{\boldsymbol{j}}^{\boldsymbol{H}} \boldsymbol{W}) - P_{\min_{\boldsymbol{j}}} \ge 0$$
(5.5)

$$C3 : \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{h}\boldsymbol{h}^{\boldsymbol{H}}) - \tau \ge 0 \tag{5.6}$$

$$C4 : Rank(\boldsymbol{W}) \le 1 \tag{5.7}$$

(5.8)

Note that the objective function is obtained by reversing the maximization function (5.1) to meet the formulation standard of Lagrangian dual problem. Now, the only non-convexity of the problem arises from constraint C4.

To mitigate this problem, the achievable optimal value can be bounded using a class of approximate method, convex relaxation [20]. By applying the Semi-Definite Programming, we obtain:

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{W},\tau \in \boldsymbol{H}^{T}} -\log_{2}\left(1+\frac{\tau}{\delta^{2}}\right) + q\left(\operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}) + P_{c}\right)$$
(5.9)

s.t 
$$C1$$
 :  $Tr(W) - P_{max} \le 0$  (5.10)

$$C2 : \zeta \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{g}_{j}\boldsymbol{g}_{j}^{H}\boldsymbol{W}) - P_{\min_{j}} \ge 0$$
(5.11)

$$C3 : \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}\boldsymbol{h}\boldsymbol{h}^{\boldsymbol{H}}) - \tau \ge 0 \tag{5.12}$$

(5.13)

The rank-one constraint C4 can be removed for more effective optimization, by proving the tightness of the SDP relaxation. This can be achieved by referring to the following theorem:

Theorem 1. The rank of optimal beamforming matrix W is less than or equal to one if channels H and  $G_j$  are statistically independent and the objective function is feasible.

Please refer to the appendix for the proof of Theorem 1.

As demonstrated in the proof of Theorem 1, the dual problem of the objective function (5.3) fulfills the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker conditions and Slater's condition as long as the conditions in theorem 1 are satisfied. Therefore the Semi-Definite Programming relaxation is tight and the beamforming matrix  $\boldsymbol{W}$  established in (5.3) is optimal for the maximization of energy efficiency of SWIPT.

#### 5.2 Dinkelbach Method

Literatures [13], [14] and [15] explain that a nonlinear fractional programming problem with concave numerator and convex denominator can be represented by a parametric program which is a convex programming.

In particular, Dinkelbach's method is a branch of fractional programming which adopts iterative procedure to solve the equivalent parametric program of a problem. This iterative approach to fractional problems effectively reduces the computational complexity that cannot be avoided in a conventional fractional programming. [16], [17]

The iterative algorithm employed in Dinkelbach's method allows to find the maximum feasible q by solving the optimization problem  $(F(q_k) = max\{N(x) - q_kD(x)|x \in S\})$  repetitively with the updated q until  $F(q_k)$  approaches a pre-set tolerance value (usually set close to zero).

# Chapter 6

# Simulation Results

In this section the simulated results of the proposed optimal solution is demonstrated. The trade-offs and factors which contribute to the results are identified and the trend of the results is analyzed with theoretical reasoning.

Bandwidth	200 kHz
Transmitter antenna gain	10 dBi
Receiver antenna gain	3 dBi
Noise power	- 95 dBm
Maximum transmit power	-50 dBm
Minimum required power at receiver	-30 dBm
Number of energy harvesting receivers	3
Number of transmit antennas $N_T$	6
Carrier signal centre frequency	915 MHz

 Table 6.1: Table 1. Parameters in simulation

#### 6.1 Energy Efficiency and Total Transmission Power



Figure 6.1: Simulation result of Energy efficiency versus Total Transmission Power.

The figure demonstrates the average energy efficiency versus the total transmit power Pmax. It can be seen that the energy efficiency of the optimal solution obtained increases monotonically with respect to the total transmit power.

The acceleration of the escalation slows down as it reaches the upper limit, because the effect of Pmax on the gain of energy efficiency becomes less significant due to the maximum error free data rate a channel can support.

The significance of this result is that once the upper bound limit of the energy efficiency is achieved by employing adequate amount of transmission power, further increase in transmission power will introduce loss in energy efficiency.

As can be seen in Figure 6.1, the energy efficiency increases with the number of transmission antennas as a result of a improved accuracy in beamforming with larger number of transmission antennas. However, the effect of increasing number of transmit antennas Nt loses significance as the number of transmit antennas exceeds a sufficient value. This result is because the channel capacity scales logarithmically with respect to Nt.

Since the circuit power consumption increases linearly with respect to the number of transmit antennas and the gain obtained with additional transmit antennas is limited, excessively increasing the number of Nt becomes insufficient to compensate for the increase in consumption of circuit power ie. The cost invested in providing circuit power.

Therefore, implementing excessively large amount of transmission power or large number of transmission antenna will not necessarily achieve higher energy efficiency or cost effectiveness.



#### 6.2 Energy efficiency and Number of Iterations

Figure 6.2: Simulation result of Energy efficiency versus Number of Iterations.

In Fig. 6.2 the trend in average energy efficiency is demonstrated against the number of iterations of Dinkelbach algorithm. The average energy efficiency increases monotonically with increasing number of iterations as the value of q approaches the optimal value in each iteration until it finally converges.

The similar increasing trend in energy efficiency is exhibited throughout the different values of transmission power. The overall average energy efficiency increases with increasing transmission power. However, it can be observed that the effect of increasing the number of transmission power on average energy efficiency becomes less significant as the value of transmission power becomes bigger. This is because the acceleration of the increase in energy efficiency becomes significantly slower with increasing transmission power, as can be observed in figure 6.1.

The convergence of all three considered scenarios with different value of transmission power occurred at the same number of iterations, meaning the value of transmission power has little significance in the rate of conversion employing Dinkelbach method.

Therefore, it can be deduced that while increasing the transmission power can help increase the overall energy efficiency, blindly increasing the transmission power is not an ultimate solution. Also, the reliability of Dinkelbach algorithm in finding the optimal value of beamforming vector for maximum energy efficiency is supported with all considering scenarios achieving convergence before 10 iterations.



#### 6.3 Energy Efficiency and Number of Eavesdroppers

Figure 6.3: Simulation result of Energy efficiency and Number of Eavesdroppers.

The Fig. 6.3 depicts the energy efficiency of the system for different number of energy harvesting receivers, and the effect of employing different number of transmission antennas. The overall average energy efficiency increases with increasing number of antennas as expected similarly to the case discussed in section 6.1, however the average energy efficiency monotonically decreases with increasing number of energy harvesting receivers.

The energy efficiency of the system decreases with increasing number of energy harvesters, because the power invested in operating the increased number of energy harvester also increases. Therefore even though the increase in number of energy harvesters may contribute to increase in energy efficiency in terms of energy harvested, it is not a sufficient way of improving the energy efficiency especially while guaranteeing quality of service.

# Chapter 7

# **Future Works**

#### 7.1 Future Research



Figure 7.1: A comparison between linear and non-linear energy harvesting model.

The current system model developed in thesis A assumes linear harvested energy with perfect CSI, which is not the behaviour a practical SWIPT convey. Figure 5.2 is a graph showing the trend of traditional linear model compared to the measured data from [12], [21]-[23], demonstrating the significance of non-linear model in generating an optimal system model in practice.

Acknowledging the implication of non-linearity and imperfect channel state information in harvested energy generated by different factors, they can be examined in depth through the commencing research as well as the security of wireless information transmission which is is crucial [33]-[37].

# Conclusion

The ultimate goal of this thesis is to design a computational efficient beamformer which maximises the energy efficiency of SWIPT systems, while guaranteeing the quality of service. Thorough research on the different design factors which contribute to the performance of SWIPT system were conducted to develop a system model. The focus in designing process was to make sure the model is efficient and feasible with high quality of service – which is why the separated receiver technique was selected for its feasibility, despite the drawback in performance, then compensating using the beamforming technique.

Through literature review and simulation of the system model, the significance of non-trivial trade-off between energy efficiency and transmission power on the feasibility and practicality of SWIPT system was identified. It was evident that due to the constraint imposed by Shannon's capacity, the increase in signal to noise ratio (or the intensity of received signal) will cause the energy efficiency to elevate abruptly at start and quickly decrease at a certain point.

By analyzing the properties of non-convex optimization and different fractional programming, the formulated problems of the system are converted into its equivalent convex optimization. The iterative algorithm of the Dinkelbach method is employed for the maximization of energy efficiency by obtaining the Lgrangian dual function of the objective function. The simulation results demonstrate the effect of factors such as the total transmission power and number of antennas to the overall energy efficiency of the system, and that the proposed optimization algorithm will successfully converge to the optimal solution at a small number of iterations.

## Appendix

As established in the in the optimal solution section, the optimization problem is convex and strictly feasible (there exists a matrix W which satisfies all conditions with strict inequality) - therefore satisfying the Slater's constraint and guaranteeing that strong duality holds. Having established that the strong duality holds, the lagrange dual function has significant implication, as by definition of strong duality, the optimal value of the primal problem equals to the optimal value of its dual problem.

To prove that the SDP relaxation is tight, Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) condition [26] of the optimization problem is analyzed. First we derive the Lagrangian function:

$$L(\boldsymbol{W}, \lambda_1, \lambda_{2_j}, \lambda_3) = -\log_2 \left( 1 + \frac{\tau}{\delta^2} \right) + q \left( \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W}) + P_c \right) + \lambda_1 (Tr\boldsymbol{W} - P_{\max})$$
  
+ 
$$\sum_{j=1}^J \lambda_{2_j} (P_{\min_j} - \zeta \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{g}_j \boldsymbol{g}_j^H \boldsymbol{W}))$$
  
+ 
$$\lambda_3 \left( \tau - \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{W} \boldsymbol{h} \boldsymbol{h}^H) \right) - Tr \left( \boldsymbol{Y} \boldsymbol{W} \right)$$
(7.1)

Where  $\mathbf{Y}$  and  $\lambda_1, \lambda_{2_j}, \lambda_3$  are the dual variables corresponding to the constraints C4 and C1, C2, C3 of the optimization problem respectively. The lagrangian derived above is used in finding the dual problem of the primal problem. The dual problem can be written as:

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{Y},\lambda_1,\lambda_{2_j},\lambda_3} \inf_{\boldsymbol{W},\tau \in \boldsymbol{H}^T} L$$
(7.2)

Now we concentrate on the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions which are related to the structure of the matrix W and proving the theory. One condition is that the gradient of Lagrangian with respect to the control variable vanishes. By taking the derivative of the Lagrangian function with respect to W, the value of Y at which the gradient of the Lagrangian function equals to zero can be found:

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{W}} = q\boldsymbol{I} + \lambda_1 \boldsymbol{I} - \sum_{j=1}^J \lambda_{2_j} \zeta \operatorname{Tr} \left( \boldsymbol{g}_j \boldsymbol{g}_j^H \right) - \lambda_3 \boldsymbol{h} \boldsymbol{h}^H - \boldsymbol{Y}$$
(7.3)

$$\mathbf{Y} = q\mathbf{I} + \lambda_1 \mathbf{I} - \sum_{j=1}^J \lambda_{2_j} \zeta g_j g_j^H - \lambda_3 \mathbf{h} \mathbf{h}^H$$
(7.4)

where I is an identity matrix and satisfies the constraint:

$$\boldsymbol{Y} \succeq \boldsymbol{0}, \lambda_1, \lambda_{2_i}, \lambda_3 \ge 0 \tag{7.5}$$

Now we consider complementary slackness to further analyze the KKT conditions. Complementary slackness explains that if a dual variable is greater than zero then the corresponding primal constraint must be an equality, and that if the primal constraint is greater than zero then the corresponding dual variable is equality. This means that the columns of matrix Wfall into the null-space spanned by Y for  $W \neq 0$ .

$$YW = 0 \tag{7.6}$$

In other words, the rank of the optimal beamforming matrix  $\boldsymbol{W}$  will less than or equal to one if the rank of  $\boldsymbol{Y}$  is greater than or equal to the number of transmission antennas (dimension of  $\boldsymbol{W}$ ) minus one.

To find the rank of the matrix we analyze the structure of Y by re-writing it in the form:

$$Y = B - H$$

$$Y = \underbrace{qI + \lambda_1 I}_{B} - \underbrace{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \lambda_{2_j} \zeta \operatorname{Tr} \left(g_j g_j^H\right) - \lambda_3 h h^H}_{H}$$
(7.7)

Where **B** and **H** are matrices with same dimensions. For matrix **B** to have a full-rank, (ie.  $Rank(\mathbf{B}) = N_T$ ), **B** must be a positive definite matrix with probability one. To prove matrix B is a positive definite matrix, let us consider the case where B is a positive semi-definite matrix. If B is a positive semi-definite matrix, there must exist at least one zero eigenvalue v. Now by multiplying the equation (9.7) on both sides by a matrix  $V = vv^H$  and applying the trace operation on both sides we get:

$$Tr(\mathbf{YV}) = -Tr(\mathbf{HV}) + Tr(\mathbf{BV})$$
  
= -Tr(\mathcal{HV}) (7.8)

Matrices  $\boldsymbol{H}$  and  $\boldsymbol{G}_{j}$  are statistically independent, therefore Tr(HV) is larger than zero. However,  $\text{Tr}(\boldsymbol{Y}\boldsymbol{V})$  is greater than or equal to zero hence the two inequalities contradict each other. This proves matrix  $\boldsymbol{B}$  is a positive definite matrix with full-rank,  $Rank(\boldsymbol{B}) = N_T$ .

Now to find the rank of matrix  $\boldsymbol{Y}$ , we apply basic rule of inequality. Consider two matrices  $\boldsymbol{A}$  and  $\boldsymbol{B}$  with same dimensions. By basic rule of inequality and rank of matrices, the summation of rank of individual matrices  $\boldsymbol{A}$  and  $\boldsymbol{B}$  is larger than the rank of the matrix  $\boldsymbol{A} + \boldsymbol{B}$  ie.  $Rank(\boldsymbol{A}) + Rank(\boldsymbol{B}) \geq Rank(\boldsymbol{A} + \boldsymbol{B})$ .

Therefore, it can said that  $Rank(\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B}) + Rank(-\mathbf{B}) \ge Rank(\mathbf{A})$ , and rearranging the inequality we get  $Rank(\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B}) \ge Rank(\mathbf{A}) - Rank(\mathbf{B})$ . Now applying this inequality, we can compute the rank of matrix  $\mathbf{Y}$ :

$$Rank(\mathbf{Y}) = Rank(-\mathbf{Y})$$
  
=  $Rank(-\mathbf{B} + \mathbf{H})$   
 $\geq Rank(-\mathbf{B}) - Rank(\mathbf{H}) \geq N_t - 1$  (7.9)

Since the columns of matrix  $\boldsymbol{W}$  fall into the null-space spanned by  $\boldsymbol{Y}$  and we have established that  $Rank(\boldsymbol{Y}) \geq N_t - 1$ , we can conclude that  $Rank(\boldsymbol{W}) \leq 1$  for , completing the proof for theorem 1.

## References

[1] Derrick Wing Kwan Ng, Robert Schober "Energy-Efficient Resource Allocation in OFD-MA Systems with Hybrid Energy Harvesting Base Station"

[2] J. Krikidis, S. Timotheou, S. Nikolaou, G. Zheng, D. W. K. Ng, and R. Schober, "Simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in modern communication systems," IEEE Commun. Mag., vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 104–110, Nov. 2014.

[3] Z. Xiang and M. Tao, "Robust beamforming for wireless information and power transmission," IEEE Wireless Commun. Lett., vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 372–375, Aug. 2012.

[4] Javier Rubio, Antonio Pascual-Iserte, Daniel P. Palomar, and Andrea Goldsmith "SWIPT Techniques for Multiuser MIMO Broadcast Systems" 2016

[5] Z. Xiang and M. Tao, "Robust beamforming for wireless information and power transmission," IEEE Wireless Commun. Lett., vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 372–375, Aug. 2012.

[6] I. Krikidis, S. Timotheou, S. Nikolaou, G. Zheng, D. W. K. Ng, and R. Schober, "Simultaneous wireless information and power transfer in modern communication systems," IEEE Commun. Nov. 2014.

[7] X. Lu, P. Wang, D. Niyato, D. I. Kim, and Z. Han, "Wireless networks with RF energy harvesting: A contemporary survey,"

[8] Z. Hasan, H. Boostanimehr, and V. K. Bhargava, "Green cellular networks: A survey, some research issues and challenges," IEEE Commun. Surveys Tutorials, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 524 – 540, Fourth Quarter 2011. [9] D. W. K. Ng, E. Lo, and R. Schober, "Wireless information and power transfer: energy efficiency optimization in OFDMA systems," IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 6352–6370, Dec. 2013.

[10] Q. Shi, C. Peng, W. Xu, and M. Hong, "Energy efficiency optimization for MISO SWIP-T systems with zero-forcing beamforming," IEEE Trans. Sig. Process., vol. 64, no. 4, pp. 842–854, Feb. 2016.

[11] S. He, Y. Huang, W. Chen, S. Jin, H. Wang, and L. Yang, "Energy efficient coordinated precoding design for a multicell system with RF energy harvesting," EURASIP J. Wireless Commun. Netw., vol. 67, 2015.

[12] J. Guo and X. Zhu, "An Improved Analytical Model for RF-DC Conversion Efficiency in Microwave Rectifiers," in IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig., Jun. 2012, pp. 1–3.

[13] Dinkelbach, W. 1967. On Nonlinear Fractional Programming. Management Science. vol. 13, pp. 492 – 498.

[14] "Sov1ing Bi-Criterion Mathematical Programs," Oper. Res., Vol. 15 (1967), pp. 39-54.

[15]. Jagannathan, R., "On Some Properties of Programming Problems in Parametric Form Pertaining to Fractional Programming," Management Science, Vol. 12 (1966), pp. 609-615.

[16] Craven, B. D. 1988. Fractional Programming. Heldermann Verlag, Berlin.

[17] Kornbluth, J. S. H., Steuer, R. E. 1981. Multiple Objective Linear Fractional Programming. Management Science, vol. 27, pp. 1024 – 1039.

[18] B, I. 2018. "IoT: number of connected devices worldwide 2012-2025", Statista. [online] https://www.statista.com/statistics/471264/iot-number-of-connected-devices-worldwide/

[19] C.-H. Chang, R. Y. Chang, and F.-T. Chien, "Energy-Assisted Information Detection for Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer: Performance Analysis and Case Studies," IEEE Transactions on Signal and Information Processing over Networks, volume 2, number 2, pages 149-159, June 2016.

[20] Pablo A. Parrilo, Sanjay Lall, "Semi-definite Programming Relaxations and Algebraic Optimization in Control", European Journal of Control, V. 9, No. 2-3, pp. 307–321, 2003

[21] N. Vucic and H. Boche, "Robust QoS-Constrained Optimization of Downlink Multiuser MISO Systems," IEEE Trans. Signal Process., vol. 57, pp. 714–725, Feb. 2009.

[22] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo, and R. Schober, "Robust Beamforming for Secure Communication in Systems with Wireless Information and Power Transfer," IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun., no. 8, pp. 4599–4615, Aug. 2014.

[23] R. Zhang and C. K. Ho, "MIMO Broadcasting for SimultaneousWireless Information and Power Transfer," IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. 12, pp. 1989–2001, May 2013.

[24] M. Grant and S. Boyd, "CVX: Matlab software for disciplined convex programming, version 2.0 beta," [Online] https://cvxr.com/cvx, Sep. 2012.

[25]Mahapatra, R.; Nijsure, Y.; Kaddoum, G.; Hassan, N.U.; Yuen, C. Energy Efficiency Tradeoff Mechanism TowardsWireless Green Communication: A Survey. IEEE Commun. Surv. Tutor. 2016, 18, 686–705.

[26] Zappone, A.; Jorswieck, E. Energy Efficiency in Wireless Networks via Fractional Programming Theory. Found. Trends Commun. Inf. Theory 2015, 11, 185–396.

[27] Boyd, S.; Vandenbergh, L. Convex Optimization; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2004.

[28] M. Zorzi, A. Gluhak, S. Lange, and A. Bassi, "From Today's INTRAnet of Things to a Future INTERnet of Things: A Wireless- and Mobility- Related View," IEEE Wireless Commun. , vol. 17, pp. 44–51, Dec. 2010.

[29] P. Grover and A. Sahai, "Shannon Meets Tesla: Wireless Information and Power Trans-

fer," in Proc. IEEE Intern. Sympos. on Inf. Theory, Jun. 2010, pp. 2363–2367.

[30] I. Krikidis, S. Timotheou, S. Nikolaou, G. Zheng, D. W. K. Ng, and R. Schober, "Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer in Modern Communication Systems," IEEE Commun. Mag., vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 104–110, Nov. 2014.

[31] Q. Wu, M. Tao, D. Ng, W. Chen, and R. Schober, "Energy-Efficient Resource Allocation for Wireless Powered Communication Networks," IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. PP, no. 99, 2015.

[32] D. W. K. Ng, E. S. Lo, and R. Schober, "Wireless Information and Power Transfer: Energy Efficiency Optimization in OFDMA Systems," IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. 12, pp. 6352–6370, Dec. 2013.

[33] D. Ng and R. Schober, "Secure and Green SWIPT in Distributed Antenna Networks With Limited Backhaul Capacity," IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun., vol. 14, pp. 5082–5097, Sep. 2015.

[34] Boshkovska, E.; Zlatanov, N.; Dai, L.; Ng, D.W.K.; Schober, R. "Secure SWIPT Networks Based on a Non-Linear Energy Harvesting Model.", San Francisco, CA, USA, 19–22 March 2017; pp. 1–6.

[35] S. Leng, D. W. K. Ng, and R. Schober, "Power Efficient and Secure Multiuser Communication Systems with Wireless Information and Power Transfer," in Proc. IEEE Intern. Commun. Conf., Jun. 2014.

[36] X. Chen, D. W. K. Ng, and H. H. Chen, "Secrecy wireless information and power transfer: challenges and opportunities," IEEE Wireless Communications, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 54-61, Apr. 2016.

[37]D. W. K. Ng, L. Xiang, and R. Schober, "Multi-Objective Beamforming for Secure Communication in Systems with Wireless Information and Power Transfer," in Proc. IEEE Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Commun. Sympos., Sep. 2013. [38] C. A. Floudas, Nonlinear and Mixed-Integer Optimization: Fundamentals and Applications, 1st ed. Oxford University Press, 1995.

[39] D. W. K. Ng and R. Schober, "Resource Allocation for Coordinated Multipoint Networks With Wireless Information and Power Transfer," in Proc. IEEE Global Telecommun. Conf., Dec. 2014

[40] M. Chynonova, R. Morsi, D. W. K. Ng, and R. Schober, "Optimal Multiuser Scheduling Schemes for Simultaneous Wireless Information and Power Transfer," in 23rd European Signal Process. Conf. (EUSIPCO), Aug. 2015.

[41] J. Chen, X. Chen, W. H. Gerstacker, and D. W. K. Ng, "Resource Allocation for a Massive MIMO Relay Aided Secure Communication," IEEE Trans. on Inf. Forensics and Security, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 1700-1711, Aug 2016.